IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC09-1089

Lower Court Case No. F96-13558

LABRANT DENNIS, Appellant,

v. STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

.

SUZANNE MYERS KEFFER Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No. 0150177

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL 101 NE 3rd Avenue, Suite 400 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 (954) 713-1284

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Circuit Court for the Eleventh Judicial Circuit, in and for Miami-Dade County, Florida, entered the judgments of conviction and sentences of death at issue in this case. Mr. Dennis was found guilty, as charged, of two counts of first degree murder, one count of burglary with an assault or battery while armed, and one count of criminal mischief on October 28, 1998. (T. 5038). After a penalty phase, the jury voted eleven to one in favor of death for both victims, giving their recommendation on December 2, 1998. (T. 5423-5424). A *Spencer*¹ hearing was held on January 22, 1999. (T. 5438-5459). The court followed the jury's recommendation and on February 26, 1999, sentenced Mr. Dennis to death. (T. 5467-5508).

On direct appeal, this Court affirmed the convictions. *Dennis v. State*, 817 So. 2d 741 (2001), *cert. denied*, 537 U.S. 1051 (2002).² A Motion to Recall the Mandate was filed by Direct Appeal Counsel from the Office of the Public Defender - 11th Judicial Circuit, on June 27, 2002. That Motion was denied on October 9, 2002.

Upon receiving the mandate from this Court, the Attorney General's Office properly noticed the Department of Corrections and the State Attorney's Office for the 11th Judicial Circuit (Supp. PC-R 76, 78). The State delayed in sending out

¹ Spencer v. State, 615 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1993).

 $^{^{2}}$ The facts adduced at trial are outlined in this Court's opinion on direct appeal.

notifications to the appropriate agencies under Fla. R Crim. P. 3.852(d) (Supp. PC-R. 82-86)and delayed in filing the records in Mr. Dennis's case in its own possession (Supp. PC-R. 102-3). Due to this delay, Mr. Dennis was given an additional 60 days to file his requests for supplemental public records.

On February 25, 2003, pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.852, counsel for Mr. Dennis timely filed numerous Demands for Additional Public Records from various state agencies involved in this case. The lower court held hearings on objections to Mr. Dennis's demands and heard argument pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.852(i).

On November 25, 2003, Mr. Dennis filed his initial motion for postconviction relief with request for leave to amend, wherein he alleged eleven claims for relief, including several grounds under each claim. The lower court held a case management conference on April 22, 2004, at which time it granted an evidentiary hearing on three of Mr. Dennis's Rule 3.851 claims: Claim III-ineffective assistance of counsel at the guilt phase of trial, limited to counsel's failure to object to the prosecutor's comments on Mr. Dennis right to remain silent³ and trial counsel's failure to hire a crime scene expert; Claim IV-ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase; and Claim X-the State withheld exculpatory material

³ Mr. Dennis presentation of evidence on this claim was further limited to the question of when Detective Romagni attempted to contact Mr. Dennis after his first interview (PC-R. 968).

in violation of *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). The lower court summarily denied Mr. Dennis's remaining claims (T. 946-991).

The lower court held an evidentiary hearing on July 13, 14 and 28, 2004. On September 7, 2004, the lower court heard closing argument (PC-R. 1230-1297). On October 4, 2004, the lower court issued a written order denying all of Mr. Dennis's postconviction claims (PC-R. 680). Mr. Dennis timely appealed the circuit court's denial.

On December 17, 2008, this Court issued an order holding that a new postconviction proceeding was warranted in this case and remanded to the trial court for a new proceeding on Mr. Dennis's postconviction motion filed under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851. Mr. Dennis filed a supplemental motion for postconviction relief on April 13, 2009. (Vol. 1, T. 55-147). On that same date, Mr. Dennis requested records regarding Florida's lethal injection procedures from the Department of Corrections, Florida Department of Law Enforcement, the Office of the Governor, and the Office of the Attorney General. Those requests were denied.

On June 12, 2009, the lower court issued a written order summarily denying all of Mr. Dennis's postconviction claims. (Vol. 2, T. 297-323). Mr. Dennis timely filed this appeal. (Vol. 2, T. 324-325).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

ARGUMENT I: Mr. Dennis was denied the effective assistance of counsel at the guilt phase of trial. Counsel failed to challenge the State's case from the inception by failing to adequately prepare for trial, failing to object to serious errors pre-trial and during the State's case in chief and failing to present evidence. Reversal for an evidentiary hearing is warranted.

ARGUMENT II: Counsel rendered prejudicially deficient performance at the penalty phase of Mr. Dennis's trial. An abundance of mitigation was available, but was never presented because trial counsel did not conduct any investigation into Dennis's background, family or community. With no reasonable tactic or strategy, counsel failed to hire a mental health expert to evaluate Mr. Dennis for mitigation. Reversal for an evidentiary hearing is warranted.

ARGUMENT III: The State had or knew of material impeachment evidence and failed to turn it over to defense counsel. The State was in possession of a memorandum sent to Dr. Valerie Rao detailing the medical testimony required from her at the penalty phase which was tantamount to witness coaching. Had Dr. Rao's prejudicial and inflammatory testimony been impeached as having been coached by the State, the result of the penalty phase would have been different. Reversal for an evidentiary hearing is warranted.

ARGUMENT IV: Mr. Dennis's trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance

due to an actual conflict of interest. As a result of his work load, trial counsel's failed to investigate, prepare and challenge the State's case.

ARGUMENT V: Trial counsel failed to object to the prosecutor's improper examination and comments throughout trial. Had the jury not been subjected to these improper arguments, there is a reasonable probability that the outcome of the trial would have been different.

ARGUMENT VI: Rule 4-3.5(d)(4), Rules Regulating the Florida Bar is unconstitutional because it prevents Mr. Dennis from investigating any claims of jury misconduct, bias or reliance on external influences that may be inherent in the jury's verdict is unconstitutional.

ARGUMENT VII: Mr. Dennis was denied his rights to due process, equal protection and the effective assistance of counsel due to the lower court's denial of public records.

ARGUMENT VIII: Newly discovered evidence establishes that the forensic science used to convict and sentence him to death was neither reliable nor valid. The resulting convictions and sentences violate Mr. Dennis's rights under the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution.

ARGUMENT IX: The circuit court erred in denying Mr. Dennis an evidentiary hearing on his claim that Florida's lethal injection statute and the existing lethal injection procedures violate the Eighth Amendment to the United

States Constitution and Article I, Section 17 and Article II, Section 3 of the Florida Constitution.

ARGUMENT X: Mr. Dennis is innocent of first degree murder. The case against Mr. Dennis was circumstantial at best. Taking all of the evidence in a light most favorable to the State, no rational fact finder could find Mr. Dennis guilty of premeditated or felony murder beyond a reasonable doubt.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The lower court summarily denied Mr. Dennis's numerous allegations of serious deficiencies which singularly and cumulatively undermined confidence in the outcome of Mr. Dennis's capital trial. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); State v. Gunsby, 670 So. 2d 920 (Fla. 1996). Mr. Dennis sought an evidentiary hearing pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(e)(1)(D) and Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(f)(5)(A) for all claims requiring a factual determination. Pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(f)(5)(A)(i), an evidentiary hearing must be held whenever the movant makes a facially sufficient claim that requires a factual determination. See also Amendments to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851, 772 So. 2d 488, 491 n.2 (Fla. 2000) (endorsing the proposition that "an evidentiary hearing is mandated on initial motions which assert . . . legally cognizable claims which allege an ultimate factual basis"). See also, Allen v. Butterworth, 756 So. 2d 52, 66-67 (2000); Gonzales v. State, 990 So. 2d 1017, 1024 (Fla. 2008). To the extent there is any

question as to whether the movant has made a facially sufficient claim requiring a factual determination, the Court will presume that an evidentiary hearing is required. *Booker v. State*, 969 So. 2d 186, 195 (Fla. 2007).

"Postconviction claims may be summarily denied when they are legally insufficient, should have been brought on direct appeal, or are positively refuted by the record." *Connor v. State*, 979 So. 2d 852 (Fla. 2007). Factual allegations as to the merits of a constitutional claim as well as to issues of diligence must be accepted as true, and an evidentiary hearing is warranted if the claims involve "disputed issues of fact." *Maharaj v. State*, 684 So. 2d 726, 728 (Fla. 1996). A court's decision whether to grant an evidentiary hearing is subject to *de novo* review. *State v. Coney*, 845 So. 2d 120, 137 (Fla. 2003).

Mr. Dennis's rule 3.851 motion pled facts regarding the merits of his claim which must be accepted as true. *Lightbourne v. State*, 549 So. 2d 1364, 1365 (Fla. 1989). When these facts are accepted as true, it is clear that the record does not positively refute Mr. Dennis's claim and that an evidentiary hearing is required.

ARGUMENT

ARGUMENT I: THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING MR. DENNIS'S CLAIMS THAT HE WAS DENIED THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AT THE GUILT PHASE

The lower court summarily denied Mr. Dennis's numerous allegations of

serious deficiencies which singularly and cumulatively undermined confidence in the outcome of the guilt phase of Mr. Dennis's capital trial. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); *State v. Gunsby*, 670 So. 2d 920 (Fla. 1996). Because these claims were more than sufficiently pled, and because the files and records do not conclusively demonstrate that Mr. Dennis is not entitled to relief, reversal for an evidentiary hearing is warranted.

1. Mr. Dennis's Right to a Speedy Trial was Violated

In the instant case, trial counsel began in an ineffective manner by waiving Mr. Dennis's right to a speedy trial. Mr. Dennis was arrested on April 30, 1996. The indictment was filed on May 8, 1996, with the arraignment on May 10, 1996. (T. 1-13). At the arraignment the State said they would provide discovery within the 15 day window mandated by Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.220(b). (T. 4). The court set a trial date of August 26, 1996. (T. 5). Mr. Guralnick did not object.

The State's initial discovery response on May 28, 1996 consisted of a witness list with 24 witnesses along with various sworn statements. Amended discovery followed shortly thereafter with a great many more witnesses and statements being added by the prosecution. The initial discovery did not include the report of the lead Detective Thomas Romagni. Det. Romagni did not turn over his report for six to eight months after Mr. Dennis's arrest. (T. 770).

On July 18, 1996, trial counsel requested a defense continuance. (T. 402-413). There was no strategic reason why trial counsel should have taken a defense continuance, or even agreed to a joint continuance. He did not have sufficient time to investigate or review discovery from the prosecution. Trial counsel should have never allowed the court to set such an early trial date or in the alternative he should have requested that the court charge a continuance to the prosecution who had not yet provided full or sufficient discovery.

"A defendant should not have to choose between the right to a speedy trial and the right to discovery within sufficient time to adequately prepare for trial." *Vega v. State*, 778 So. 2d 505, 506 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2001). *See also Pura v. State*, 789 So. 2d 436, 439 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001) (citing *Staveley v. State*, 744 So. 2d 1051 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999), rev. denied, 760 So. 2d 948 (Fla. 2000)). The State was under an obligation to provide full discovery in a timely manner. Trial counsel should never have sacrificed Mr. Dennis's right to a speedy trial when the lead detective had failed to timely turn over his report of the investigation.

There is nothing in the record to suggest that trial counsel made a strategic decision in requesting a defense continuance or not requesting that a continuance be charged to the State. The fact remains that counsel did not have enough time to investigate in order to determine whether he needed to take a defense continuance. The decision was uninformed, unnecessary, and counsel was ineffective. *See* ABA

Guidelines for the Appointment and Performance of Counsel in Death Penalty Cases 11.2(B). The lower court states that Mr. Dennis did not allege that he would have been ready for trial at the end of the speedy trial period (PC-R2. 305). However, the issue of trial counsel's readiness are questions for trial counsel at an evidentiary hearing. Mr. Dennis is entitled to an evidentiary hearing.

2. Failure to Adequately Prepare for Trial

Mr. Dennis alleged in his Rule 3.851 motion that trial counsel failed to adequately prepare for trial. Mr. Guralnick was a sole-practitioner who represented Mr. Dennis on a pro-bono basis. (T. 25). When Mr. Guralnick agreed to represent Mr. Dennis in this case he was already representing another capital defendant, Daniel Lugo,⁴ as well as running his practice. Despite his excessive caseload, trial counsel failed to seek the appointment of a second attorney.

Contrary to the lower court's order, Mr. Dennis alleged in his motion, and argued at the case management conference, specific facts with respect to counsel's failure to adequately prepare (PC-R. 44-45)(PC-R2. 374, 378).⁵ Mr. Guralnick

⁴ Mr. Lugo's case preceded Mr. Dennis's in 1998 and took three months to try the guilt phase alone. (T. 566).

⁵ Mr. Dennis alleged during this time the State was unable to take the depositions of the defense witnesses because Mr. Guralnick was unavailable. The State also brought to the trial court's attention the fact that Mr. Guralnick had taken only a small number of depositions of the witnesses in this case and that they planned on calling at least 60 witnesses in the State's case-in-chief. (T. 564). The State's concern regarding Mr. Guralnick's lack of preparedness was so great that it led to

should have sought the assistance of a second qualified attorney to assist him in this case, particularly with respect to his inability to timely conduct discovery, as well as with the investigation and preparation for the penalty phase (PC-R2. 378).

Contrary to the lower court's conclusion that this claim is refuted by the record, the record does not support the conclusion that Mr. Dennis was aware of the need for a second chair attorney and what a second chair attorney could provide in terms of preparing for the penalty phase. The record merely indicates that Mr. Dennis agreed that he had only hired Mr. Guralnick and he was satisfied with his services up to that early stage of the proceedings (R. 1032-34). Mr. Dennis had no information or explanation of the options available to him. The citations by the lower court are merely trial counsel and the judge reiterating Mr. Dennis's uninformed acquiescence.

Trial counsel's failure to hire a second chair attorney, coupled with his responsibilities to another capital defendant and to his solo-practice rendered him ineffective. Because these claims were more than sufficiently pled, and because the files and records do not conclusively demonstrate that Mr. Dennis is not entitled to relief, Mr. Dennis is entitled to an evidentiary hearing.

3. Failure to Object to Improper Bolstering by State Witnesses

Mr. Dennis alleged in his Rule 3.851 motion that trial counsel did nothing to

an improper communication with the original trial judge, who shortly thereafter, *sua sponte*, recused herself. (T. 610-619).

object to the testimony of several key witnesses, all of which was rampant with improper opinions and bolstering of the witnesses by the State (PC-R. 45-55). "The law is well-settled that a witness's testimony offered to vouch for the credibility of another is inadmissible." *Weatherford v. State*, 561 So. 2d 629, 634 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990); *See also Capehart v. State*, 583 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 1991);*Tingle v. State*, 536 So. 2d 202 (Fla. 1988); and *Norris v. State*, 525 So. 2d 998 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988). Trial counsel's failure to object, and do so adequately when called for, made him ineffective.

Det. Thomas Charles - Det. Charles was a Crime Scene Investigator, tasked with taking photographs of the scene and collecting evidence, both inside and outside the apartment where the bodies were found (T. 3257). During and throughout his testimony, he was never qualified or offered as an expert of any kind (T. 3246-3334). Despite the lack of expert qualification, the prosecution elicited testimony from Det. Charles as if he was an expert in tool mark identification. Without objection from trial counsel, Det. Charles testified to the damage to the tires of Earl Little's Ford Explorer, particularly with respect to the similarities between puncture marks and the size, shape and type of puncture (T. 3161-62). Trial counsel failed to object to this improper expert opinion testimony.

Additionally, the testimony was an improper bolstering of the subsequent

testimony of toolmark examiner Thomas Quirk. (T. 4467-4507). Det. Charles did not testify about the tires in order to respond to a challenge by trial counsel of Examiner Quirk's testimony. The sole purpose of Det. Charles' tire testimony was to leave the jury with the impression that since one police officer has already testified to these issues, the second officer must be telling the truth. The State elicited an improper, unqualified opinion from him in order to bolster their evidence against Mr. Dennis. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to this testimony.

Det. Charles also gave improper and unqualified "expert" testimony about blood splatter at the crime scene. He improperly testified about angle and direction of blood drops, explained the term "cast off" and opined that smearing was the result of someone's hands (T. 3268-3269, 3290, 3291, 3292). Not only was the testimony improper "expert" opinion by an unqualified witness, the explanation was highly improper and inflammatory, comparing striking a person with a club to "slinging a wet mop" (T. 3291) and inappropriately commenting that there was "some act of violence going on here" (T. 3290). This testimony was inflammatory, improper expert testimony and trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object.

The improper testimony continued when Det. Charles was permitted to give "expert" testimony regarding firearms. Det. Charles explained that he found a small fragment of metal on the floor "the shape and size and the coloring of a

trigger guard." (T. 3288). This testimony only served to improperly bolster witness Quirk and witness George Borghi's subsequent testimony about the gun. Again, trial counsel failed to object.

Det. Charles's improper testimony was only highlighted by trial counsel on cross-examination. During cross, Mr. Guralnik asked Det. Charles's opinion about blood spatter and the struggle between Mr. Barnes and his assailant(s). (T. 3315-3316). The State objected, arguing that this was speculation and Det. Charles was not a blood splatter expert. (T. 3316). In overruling the State's objection, Judge Crespo indicated that Det. Charles had "come across as being an expert in this area." (T. 3316). Despite Judge Crespo's characterization, Det. Charles was never qualified as an expert in any field. Like Judge Crespo, the postconviction court in denying Mr. Dennis's claim arrives at the same erroneous conclusion (PC-R2. 307). The record does not support any finding that Det. Charles was qualified as an expert in tool marking and/or blood spatter. Mr. Guralnick continued to elicit improper expert opinion testimony that ultimately culminated in Det. Charles himself stating that he has not been certified as an expert. (T. 3321).

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