#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC09-1089

LABRANT DENNIS,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH
JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY,
CRIMINAL DIVISION

#### BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL MCCOLLUM Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

SANDRA S. JAGGARD
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0012068
Office of the Attorney General
Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 650
444 Brickell Avenue
Miami, Florida 33131
PH. (305) 377-5441
FAX (305) 377-5655

##

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

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The lower court properly denied the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel at the guilt phase because the claim was insufficiently plead, refuted by the record and without merit as a matter of law. The claim of ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase was properly denied as insufficiently plead and refuted by the record. The Brady claim was properly denied because the record refuted any materiality of the allegedly suppressed information. The conflict of interest claim was properly denied because Defendant failed to allege a cognizable conflict. The claim regarding the comments was properly denied as procedurally barred and meritless. The claim relating to juror interviews was properly denied as procedurally barred and meritless. The lower court did not abuse its discretion in ruling on the public records requests. The lower court properly determined that the National Research Council report was not newly discovered evidence. The lethal injection claim was

properly denied as meritless. The lower court also properly rejected the challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence.

#### ARGUMENT

# I. THE CLAIMS OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AT THE GUILT PHASE WERE PROPERLY DENIED.

Defendant first asserts that the lower court erred in denying his claims that counsel was ineffective during the guilt phase of trial. However, the lower court properly denied these claims as they were procedurally barred, insufficiently plead, refuted by the record and without merit as a matter of law.

In order to plead properly a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, Defendant must demonstrate both that counsel's performance was deficient, and that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense, which requires a showing that counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a trial whose result is reliable. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

Deficient performance requires a showing that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness under prevailing professional norms, and a fair assessment of performance of a criminal defense attorney:

requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time. . . [A] court must indulge a strong

presumption that criminal defense counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance, that is, the defendant must overcome the presumption that, under the circumstances, the challenged action might be considered sound trial strategy.

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694-695.

Even if a criminal defendant shows that particular errors of defense counsel were unreasonable, the defendant must show that they actually had an adverse effect on the defense in order to establish ineffective assistance of counsel. The test for prejudice requires the defendant to show that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different, or, alternatively stated, whether there is a reasonable probability that, absent the errors, the fact finder would have had a reasonable doubt respecting guilt. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694.

Moreover, this Court has held that a defendant must make more than conclusory allegations regarding both prongs to be entitled to an evidentiary hearing. Ragsdale v. State, 720 So. 2d 203, 207 (Fla. 1998). Further, as the United States Supreme Court has recently held, it is improper to treat the ABA guidelines as rules that a counsel must follow. Bobby v. Van Hook, 130 S. Ct. 13, 16-17 (2009). Instead, they only provide guides to what the prevailing professional standards are and only to the extent they are applicable to the time at which

counsel acted. Id.

Applying these standards here, the lower court properly denied Defendant's claims that his counsel was ineffective during the guilt phase. As such, it should be affirmed.

Defendant first asserts that the lower court erred denying his claim that his counsel was ineffective for taking a continuance when he had not received the lead detective's report before the trial date. In making this claim, Defendant did not suggest that his counsel would have been ready to proceed to trial by the initial trial date. (PCR. 41-43) Instead, Defendant asserted that counsel "did not have sufficient investigate or review discovery" within that time period. (PCR. 42) Defendant also did not allege that counsel should not have requested a continuance. (PCR. 41-43) Instead, he suggested that counsel should have requested a continuance charged to the State. Given that Defendant expressly asserted that his counsel could not be ready for trial within the time allotted, his present assertion that an evidentiary hearing was necessary to determine readiness should be rejected.

Moreover, the lower court was also correct in rejecting the argument that counsel should have requested a continuance charged to the State. In *State v. Naveira*, 873 So. 2d 300 (Fla.

In fact, the record reflects that Defendant agreed to the continuance and the waiver of speedy trial. (R. 446-47)

2004), this Court held that a defendant was not entitled to have a continuance charged to the State and a discharge under the speedy trial rule simply because he received discovery at such a time that he could not be ready for trial within the speedy trial period. In doing so, this Court expressly rejected the argument that doing otherwise caused a defendant to choose between his right to a speedy trial and his right to prepare for trial. *Id.* at 307-08. In fact, this Court went so far as to suggest that a defendant had to show that the State committed a discovery violation before any sanction could be imposed on the State. *Id.* at 306 n.2.

Even where a discovery violation has been shown, the defendant must show that he has diligently sought the discovery before a defendant may have a continuance charged to the State based on an alleged discovery violation. State v. Guzman, 697 So. 2d 1263, 1264 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997); Pura v. State, 789 So. 2d 436, 439 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001). Moreover, the defendant must show that the alleged discovery violation prejudiced his ability to prepare for trial in a manner that could not be corrected within the speedy trial time. Guzman, 697 So. 2d at 1264; see also Pura, 789 So. 2d at 339-40; Staveley v. State, 744 So. 2d 1051, 1053 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999). Further, before charging a continuance to the State beyond the speedy trial period, the trial court

must consider lesser sanctions for the discovery violation. Pura, 789 So. 2d at 440; Staveley, 744 So. 2d at 1053. Additionally, a defendant cannot show that he was prejudice by an alleged discovery violation where he has possession of the information that was allegedly not disclosed through another source. Sireci v. State, 399 So. 2d 964, 968-69 (Fla. 1981); Cooper v. State, 336 So. 2d 1133, 1138-39 (Fla. 1976); State v. Banks, 418 So. 2d 1059, 1060 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982).

Here, Defendant has never alleged that the State committed a discovery violation or made more than a conclusory allegation about his ability to prepare for trial. Instead, Defendant has merely noted that the State amended its initial discovery response and that he did not receive the lead detective's report for months after his arrest. However, Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.220(j) expressly contemplates the filing of amended discovery notices. Moreover, Defendant acknowledged in his October 11, 1996 motion to compel that the reason why he did not already have Det. Romagni's report was that it had yet to be written because of Det. Romagni's other responsibilities, as was confirmed at the hearing on the motion. (R. 458-49, T. 422-23) Further, while Defendant may not have had the report, he did have Det. Romagni's Arthur hearing testimony regarding his investigation. (T. 237-441)

Given all of these circumstances, the lower court properly determined that any request to have a continuance charged to the State would have been meritless under Naveira. Since counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to raise a meritless issue, the lower court properly denied this claim. Kokal v. Dugger, 718 So. 2d 138, 143 (Fla. 1998); Groover v. Singletary, 656 So. 2d 424, 425 (Fla. 1995); Hildwin v. Dugger, 654 So. 2d 107, 111 (Fla. 1995); Breedlove v. Singletary, 595 So. 2d 8, 11 (Fla. 1992). It should be affirmed.

Defendant next complains that the lower court denied his claim that his counsel was ineffective for failing to obtain the services of a second attorney to represent him. Again, the denial of the claim was proper.

This Court has held that to state a facially sufficient claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to request a second attorney, a defendant has to allege specifically how the solo representation affected the attorney's performance at trial. State v. Riechmann, 777 So. 2d 342, 359 (Fla. 2000); see also Cummings-el v. State, 863 So. 2d 246, 249-50, 258 (Fla. 2003); Larkins v. State, 655 So. 2d 95, 100 (Fla. 1995); Armstrong v. State, 642 So. 2d 730, 737 (Fla. 1994). This is entirely consistent with Strickland requirement that any alleged deficiency must create a reasonable probability that a defendant

would not have been convicted had the alleged deficiency not occurred. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694. It is also consistent with the statement in the comment to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.112 that the Strickland standard had to be met to obtain relief. In fact, in Armstrong, this Court found that a request for a second attorney was insufficient where the defendant asserted that his one counsel needed help investigating the case. Armstrong, 642 So. 2d at 737.

Here, the lower court properly found that Defendant did not meet this pleading requirement. At no point did Defendant ever allege that the lack of a second attorney affected the outcome of the trial or even counsel's performance at trial. Instead, Defendant merely alleged that the lack of a second attorney caused delays in the discovery process and caused the State to be concerned about counsel's preparation well before trial. (PCR. 43-45) As such, the lower court properly found the claim to be insufficiently plead and denied it as such.

The denial of this claim was particularly appropriate as the record reflects that the reason why Defendant had one attorney was that he chose to have one attorney. During a pretrial hearing, Defendant's attorney indicated that he had not obtained a second attorney because Defendant wanted counsel to handle both phases of trial. (R. 2057-58) Immediately before

voir dire, Defendant personally indicated in a colloquy with the trial court that he had arranged for Mr. Guralnick to be his only attorney in both phases of trial. (T. 1033) During voir dire, counsel indicated that he knew that Defendant could have sought additional representation, and the trial court again indicated that Defendant had chosen to be represented solely by Mr. Guralnick. (T. 2390) As it was Defendant's wish to be represented only by Mr. Guralnick, counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for following his client's wishes. See Cole v. State, 841 So. 2d 409, 426 (Fla. 2003). Moreover, the United States Supreme Court has rejected the assertion that a waiver of even a constitutional right is sufficient even if the defendant did not have all of the implications of the waiver in his case explained to him. Iowa v. Tovar, 541 U.S. 77, 92 (2004). The denial of the claim should be affirmed.

Defendant next complains about the lower court's denial of his claim that his counsel was ineffective for failing to object to certain testimony. However, the lower court properly denied this claim. In pleading this claim, Defendant made no attempt to explain how objecting to any of this testimony would have created a reasonable probability of a different outcome. (PCR. 45-57) As such, the claims were insufficiently plead and properly denied.

Moreover, Det. Charles's testimony concerning his description of the punctures in the tires and the pieces of metal he found were merely that: descriptions of things he had seen. A witness is properly permitted to describe things he had seen. As such, counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to claim that such evidence was not admissible. *Kokal*, 718 So. 2d at 143; *Groover*, 656 So. 2d at 425; *Hildwin*, 654 So. 2d at 111; *Breedlove*, 595 So. 2d at 11. The claim was properly denied.

Moreover, objecting to Det. Charles's testimony about the blood spatter evidence would not have been meritorious. When the State sought to prevent Det. Charles from giving an opinion about blood spatter, the trial court found that Det. Charles was give such an opinion. (T. qualified to 3315-17) The qualification of a witness is within the discretion of the trial court. Anderson v. State, 863 So. 2d 169, 179-80 (Fla. 2003). Here, Det. Charles stated that he had been a police officer for 26 years, during which he had worked in crime analysis for 3 years and been a crime scene technician for 6 to 7 years. (T. 3248) He stated that he had been trained in blood spatter analysis. (T. 3249) Under these circumstances, the trial court would have properly overruled an objection that Det. Charles was no qualified to given an opinion as it later did. As such, counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to

objected. Kokal, 718 So. 2d at 143; Groover, 656 So. 2d at 425; Hildwin, 654 So. 2d at 111; Breedlove, 595 So. 2d at 11. The denial of the claim should be affirmed.

Defendant next complains that his counsel was allegedly ineffective for failing to testify about Det. Sanchez's testimony regarding Ms. El-Djeije's identification. However, counsel did repeatedly object to Det. Sanchez's testimony, and the trial court repeatedly overruled these objections. (T. 3546) In fact, counsel objected when the State first attempted to ask the question about which Defendant complains but the lower court found that the statement was properly admitted as a statement of identification. (T. 3546) Since counsel did object, he cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to do so. The denial of the claim should be affirmed.

Defendant next asserts that counsel was ineffective for not objecting to Mr. Stewart's testimony about not being charged. However, the lower court properly determined that such any objection would be meritless. Florida has long allowed anticipatory rehabilitation of witnesses. McCrae v. State, 510 So. 2d 874, 877-78 (Fla. 1987); Bell v. State, 491 So. 2d 537, 538 (Fla. 1986). In this case, the State properly anticipated that Defendant would assert that Stewart was testifying to avoid being charged with this crime himself. As such, the State

properly anticipatorily rehabilitated him by eliciting testimony that Stewart had never been threatened with prosecution. Under these circumstances, counsel is not ineffective for failing to object to this testimony. *Kokal*, 718 So. 2d at 143; *Groover*, 656 So. 2d at 425; *Hildwin*, 654 So. 2d at 111; *Breedlove*, 595 So. 2d at 11. The denial of the claim should be affirmed.

Defendant next complains that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to Det. Romagni's testimony about his investigation and Det. Poitier's testimony about the number of assailants. However, Defendant raised these issues on direct appeal, and this Court rejected them, finding that the testimony was properly admitted and that any error would be harmless and not fundamental. Dennis, 817 So. 2d at 751-54. As the issues were raised and rejected on direct appeal, they are now procedurally barred, and couching the claim in terms of ineffectiveness does not lift the bar. Cherry v. State, 659 So. 2d 1069, 1072 (Fla. 1995); Harvey v. Dugger, 656 So. 2d 1253, 1256 (Fla. 1995); Medina v. State, 573 So. 2d 293, 295 (Fla. 1990); Swafford v. Dugger, 569 So. 2d 1264, 1267 (Fla. 1990). Thus, the denial of the claim was proper and should be affirmed.

Defendant also complains that the lower court rejected his claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to Det. Poitier's testimony about the sexual assault kit. However,

Defendant asserted that the police did not conduct a careful investigation. He repeatedly insinuated that Little may have interrupted the crime in progress and that the assailant may have had a motive other than jealousy. (T. 3322, 3361-66, 3373-76) Under these circumstances, the State was properly allowed to elicit testimony that Lumpkins's body was tested to determine that she had not been sexually assaulted to show that the police had not conducted a sloppy investigation and ignored evidence of other possible motives. (T. 3367, 4242-43) As this evidence was relevant, counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to claim that it was not. Kokal, 718 So. 2d at 143; Groover, 656 So. 2d at 425; Hildwin, 654 So. 2d at 111; Breedlove, 595 So. 2d at 11. The denial of the claim should be affirmed.

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